Advancing Science for Pet Health

PREBIOTICS: Effects On Gastrointestinal And Host Health



Advancing Science for Pet Health

The gut microbiome plays a crucial role in host health through its impact on digestion, metabolism, and immunity.¹ The large intestine houses a diverse and complex microbial ecosystem that adapts in response to substrate availability, pH, oxygen levels, and other variables.¹⁻³ The majority of the bacteria in the colon are anaerobic species capable of utilizing nutrients, such as dietary fiber and protein, that escape digestion in the upper gastrointestinal tract.^{2,4} While there are numerous influences on microbiome composition, nutritional intervention provides a daily opportunity to influence the health of the microbiome – and ultimately, the health of the host.



CONTENTS

2	Dietary fibers
2	Prebiotics: Not all dietary fibers are equal
4	Variability in prebiotics
4	Combining prebiotics
4	Physiological effects of prebiotics
	Selective enhancement of beneficial microbiota
	Short-chain fatty acid production
	Reduced intraluminal pH
	Pathogen inhibition
	Immunomodulation
	Protein fermentation and nitrogen balance
	Other effects
7	Potential clinical benefits of prebiotics

Preventive gastrointestinal health Gastrointestinal conditions Synbiotic combinations Metabolic support

Immune support

Other potential effects



Conclusion

Advancing Science for Pet Health

DIETARY FIBERS

Dietary fibers are generally composed of structural components and carbohydrates derived from plants and fungi.⁵ They escape digestion in the upper gastrointestinal tract because the host lacks the digestive enzymes to break them down.^{5,6} The physical properties of dietary fibers vary widely, and even minor variations influence the fermentability and physiological effects.^{7,8}

Dietary fiber for cats? While plants (and therefore, plant fibers) are not typically present in the natural diet of cats and other carnivores, they can offer distinct physiological benefits for cats.⁷¹⁰⁻¹⁹

The consumption of dietary fiber results in extensive metabolic interactions among the microorganisms in the large intestine.¹ Saccharolytic bacteria in the colon obtain carbon and energy through the fermentation of certain carbohydrates and produce end products – such as short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) – that provide benefits to the host.^{4.9}

PREBIOTICS: NOT ALL DIETARY FIBERS ARE EQUAL

The concept of prebiotics was first described in 1995 by Gibson & Roberfroid² as "non-digestible food ingredients that beneficially influence the health of the host by stimulating the activity of one or more commensal colon bacteria." The definition has been revised since that time,^{1,4,6,20,21} with the current definition defined by the International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP) as "substrates selectively used by microorganisms of the host conferring a health benefit."²¹⁻²³ Not all dietary fibers have prebiotic effects but the majority of prebiotics are non-digestible (by the host), fermentable dietary fibers.^{1,20,22} Most prebiotics are carbohydrates – more specifically, oligosaccharides.⁶ To date, only inulin-type fructans (ITF) and galactans meet all of the ISAPP prebiotic criteria.^{21,22,24} However, a number of substances, including non-plant sources, possess prebiotic potential and are considered "candidate prebiotics" – including human milk oligosaccharides, yeast-based substances and noncarbohydrates (e.g., polyphenols, fatty acids, herbs and some micronutrients).^{20,22,24,25}

According to the International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP), a substance must meet 3 criteria in order to be considered a prebiotic:^{6,20-23}

- Resistant to digestion in upper GI tract
- Fermentable by microbiota
- Specifically stimulate growth and/or activity of beneficial bacteria

In addition, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) states the substance must also be safe based on traditional studies and has to be ingested in a plausible daily amount to have the prebiotic effect.²⁰

Commonly used pet food ingredients with prebiotic activity or potential

- Arabinoxylan-oligosaccharide (AXOS)
- β-glucans
- Fructans (e.g., inulin, oligofructose [OF] and fructooligosaccharides [FOS])
- Citrus pulp
- Cranberries

- Galactooligosaccharide (GOS)
- Lactulose
- Mannanoligosaccharide (MOS)
- Pectin
- Psyllium (including seed husk)
- Pumpkin
- Soybean oligosaccharides (e.g., raffinose, stachyose, verbascose)
- Spent brewers' grains
- Wheat aleurone

Fructans

Fructans were the first prebiotics identified and used as food ingredients and include inulin, oligofructose and short-chain fructooligosaccharides.^{2,21} Inulin and oligofructose can be naturally found in agave, artichokes, asparagus, bananas, chicory root, garlic, onions, leeks and wheat.^{1,21} They are composed of linear or branched fructose chains, usually with terminal glucose units.⁶



Figure 1:

Chicory root is

approximately 55% inulin

Inulin is a long-chain carbohydrate consisting of fructose units and is most commonly extracted from chicory root,^{2,6,14,21,26} which is approximately 55% inulin.^{27,28}

Oligofructose (OF) is a shorter-chain carbohydrate composed of fructose units.^{2,6,14,21} It can be extracted from plants or produced by partial enzymatic hydrolysis of inulin.²¹

Short-chain fructooligosaccharides

(scFOS) are the shortest fructose-based chain carbohydrates in this category.²¹ Although they can be extracted from plants, they are more commonly synthesized from sucrose and fructose using an enzymatic process.²¹

Galactans

Galactooligosaccharides (GOS) are synthetic lactosebased oligosaccharides, some of which are derived from lactulose.⁶

Other substances with prebiotic potential

Beta-glucans (β-glucans) are glucose-based polysaccharides that comprise major structural components of the cell wall of yeasts, fungi and some bacteria and can also be found in barley and oats.²⁹

Mannanoligosaccharides (MOS) are derived from the cell wall of the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*.²⁸



Wheat aleurone

Psyllium is derived from the seeds of *Plantago ovata* and predominately consists of highly-branched arabinoxylan.³⁰

Pumpkin fiber may contain rhamnogalacturonans, arabinoxylans, xyloglucans, xylogalaturonans, galacturonic acid, galactoglucomannans, and pectins.^{31,32}

Wheat aleurone is the innermost layer of wheat bran and is composed of approximately 65% arabinoxylan and 29% β -glucans.^{33,34}

Xylooligosaccharides (XOS) are polymers of xylose.¹⁹

Ease of handling and the ability to withstand processing and storage give prebiotics a distinct advantage in pet food manufacturing.³⁵

Advancing Science for Pet Health

VARIABILITY IN PREBIOTICS

The activity of a prebiotic is affected by its physicochemical structure. The degree of polymerization (DP) is based on the chain length of the fiber.² The original source, DP, chemical bonds, and the amount of branching of the fiber affects the ability of microorganisms to utilize it as an energy source.^{1,5,21} For example, a short-chain oligosaccharide (low DP) with minimal branching will be fermented more quickly than a longer-chain (higher DP) fiber with a more complex structure. Even different prebiotics from the same prebiotic category (e.g., fructans) can have different effects based on differences in chemical structure.^{21,36,37}

Factors determining variability in response to prebiotics:

- Host species- and individual-level variations in gut microbial populations^{1,6,18,21}
- Structure (DP, branching) of the prebiotic^{1,6,7,21}
- Base diet^{21,36,41}
- Amount of prebiotic consumed^{1,7,14,19,21,27,36,42-47}
- Duration of administration^{18,21,46,48}

The diversity of bacterial species in the gut microbiome is associated with variability in the microbiome's ability to metabolize prebiotics.^{1,6,21} Saccharolytic bacteria possess enzymes that allow them to metabolize a wide variety of carbohydrates.¹ Some "generalist" species have many enzymes that allow them to metabolize a number of complex carbohydrates, while more "specialist" species can only utilize one or a few shorter-chain carbohydrates.^{1,5,6} Even bacterial species within the same genera can differ in their ability to degrade fiber sources.¹ As a result of this variation, as well as individual variation in microbiota populations, the fermentation of different prebiotics can produce different amounts and ratios of fermentation products (such as short-chain fatty acids, SCFAs) – resulting in potentially different physiological effects of the same prebiotic between hosts.^{7,16,37-39}

A direct comparison of the effects of different prebiotics in dogs or cats is difficult due to wide variation in the base diets; type, duration and amount of prebiotic consumed; and methods of evaluation.^{21,37,40}

COMBINING PREBIOTICS

Because they provide variable fermentation rates and prebiotic compositions, fiber blends may offer complementary or synergistic benefits beyond those provided by individual prebiotics.^{20,28,46,49} Providing diverse fibers could provide metabolic support for a more diverse range of microbes – both generalists and specialists.

However, it is also possible that component prebiotics may compete for fermentation by microbiota, resulting in mixed effects or even diminished effects; therefore, as with probiotics, potential prebiotic blends should be evaluated for their efficacy in the target species.²⁸

PHYSIOLOGICAL EFFECTS OF PREBIOTICS

Prebiotics can exert direct and indirect effects on gut health.

Selective enhancement of beneficial microbiota

The fermentation of prebiotic fibers is the result of complex interactions between multiple bacterial species in the colon,⁹ and the microbiome population and function adapt in response to changes in the available energy sources (substrates) for the bacteria.^{45,50} Prebiotics provide ample substrate and create a favorable environment for saccharolytic bacteria – such as *Bifidobacterium* and

Lactobacillus species – that are known to have health benefits for the host.^{6,22,23,51,52} This activity is considered a primary function of prebiotics, and is one of the three ISAPP criteria.^{22,47} Enhancing the growth of beneficial bacteria can result in enhancement of their benefits – such as increases in butyrate production as well as B vitamin production and bile acid conversion.^{8,9,21,23,51}

Short-chain fatty acid production

Many benefits of prebiotics result from the effects of SCFAs produced during microbial fermentation.^{22,23} The primary SCFAs formed are acetate, propionate and butyrate. SCFAs impact many molecular and cellular processes and play important roles in gut health as well as host health.^{5,21,23}

SCFA generation is dependent on the available substrates, microbial composition, and intestinal transit time.^{9,53} SCFAs interact directly with intestinal epithelial cells and immune cells to modify cellular processes, gene expression, and cellular differentiation, proliferation and apoptosis.²³

Purported effects of SCFAs include:

- Energy substrate for intestinal epithelial cells (butyrate)^{1,4,14,26,38,43,49,54,55}
- Increase absorptive capacity through stimulation of colonocyte proliferation⁵⁴
- Increase expression of antimicrobial peptides (e.g., defensins)²³
- Strengthen epithelial barrier function through induction of tight junction proteins²³
- Modulate cellular processes in colonocytes and immune cells, including gene expression and cellular differentiation, proliferation and apoptosis²³
- Stimulate activity of antioxidant enzymes such as glutathione S-transferases²⁰
- Modulation of vagal nerve activity⁵⁵
- Anti-inflammatory actions⁵

■ Improve bioavailability of calcium and magnesium⁵⁴

SCFAs readily diffuse through enterocytes into the bloodstream, facilitating their potential effects on glucose and lipid metabolism as well as on distant organs such as the lungs, skin, and brain.^{5,6,23,55}

Reduced intraluminal pH

Fermentation of prebiotics results in the production of acetate, lactate and other acids that lower the intraluminal pH. This provides a dual benefit of a more supportive pH for butyrate-producing beneficial bacteria while creating an unfavorable environment for acid-sensitive potential pathogens.^{1,2,4,6,17,56} The reduced pH affects bacterial enzyme activity,⁴ stimulates mucin production,⁵⁶ and influences intestinal motility.⁴

Pathogen inhibition

While selective enhancement of beneficial bacteria is one of the three ISAPP criteria for prebiotics, some studies have demonstrated reductions in potentially pathogenic bacteria (such as *Clostridium perfringens* and *Escherichia coli*).^{6,10,20,27,57-59}

Pathogen inhibition resulting from prebiotics can result from several mechanisms, including:

- Selective enhancement of beneficial microbiota that are able to utilize the available substrate and outcompete potential pathogens^{16,17,20,59}
- Production of substances (such as bacteriocins and antimicrobial peptides) that are directly inhibitory to pathogens^{2,6,47,49,59}
- Direct inhibition of pathogen adherence, implantation and translocation^{23,41,47,60,61}
- Some oligosaccharides may structurally mimic intestinal epithelial cell receptors and serve as decoys to prevent pathogen binding^{59,60}

Advancing Science for Pet Health

Immunomodulation

Prebiotics may exert immunomodulatory effects.^{37,47,49,62,63} Different prebiotics, as well as different levels of the same prebiotic, may exert different (or no) impacts on the immune system.^{37,47,49,51,62}

The immunomodulatory effects of prebiotics are largely mediated by SCFA,^{63,64} and include:

- Production of stimulatory cytokines and chemokines that influence immune cells⁵⁶
- Induction of anti-inflammatory cytokine production coupled with inhibition of pro-inflammatory cytokine production²³
- Production of substances that stimulate cytokine production, mononuclear cell proliferation, macrophage phagocytosis, and immunoglobulin production^{23,47}
- Increase ileal IgA concentrations to enhance mucosal immunity⁵⁹

Protein fermentation and nitrogen balance

Microbial proteolytic metabolism in the colon can produce beneficial products (such as propionate), but is also associated with the production of potentially toxic, putrefactive compounds (e.g., ammonia, phenols, thiols, biogenic amines).^{21,54} Reducing protein fermentation by shifting the environment to favor saccharolytic fermentation reduces concentrations of undesirable metabolites.^{24,54} An additional benefit of reducing putrefactive compounds is a potential reduction in fecal odor in dogs^{26,57} and cats.^{10,58} Fructans such as FOS have been associated with a shift of nitrogen elimination from urine to the colon,^{13,14,65} where urease-positive microbes metabolize urea to ammonia for incorporation into bacterial proteins.¹⁴ This may benefit patients with renal impairment.



Figure 3:

Purported mechanisms of action of prebiotics. Interindividual variation in the microbiome, the base diet, and the type, inclusion level and duration of prebiotic administration may all influence the ultimate effects of the prebiotic.

Other effects

Additional purported benefits of prebiotic administration include antioxidant activities⁶⁶ and improved calcium and magnesium absorption.^{4,37,67}

Adverse effects of prebiotics have been infrequently reported, and are most likely the result of osmotic effects or excessive fermentation associated with higher levels of prebiotic inclusion.^{6,7,12,14,16,20} Potential adverse effects include diarrhea, bloating, abdominal discomfort, and flatulence.²⁰

POTENTIAL CLINICAL BENEFITS OF PREBIOTICS

Numerous published studies have demonstrated the safety and impact of prebiotics in healthy animals, but translation of these results to diseased or dysbiotic animals is difficult and more research is needed to evaluate the clinical benefits of specific prebiotics and prebiotic blends.⁴⁰

Preventive gastrointestinal health

Prebiotic-induced increases in intestinal villi height and absorptive capacity, enhancement of beneficial bacteria, and reductions in fecal putrefactive catabolites may facilitate intestinal health and absorptive capacity.^{16,26,68,69} Reduced fecal putrefactive catabolites can lead to reduced fecal odor in dogs^{26,57} and cats,^{10,58} which may improve pet owner satisfaction.

Gastrointestinal conditions

Due to their antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties, prebiotics may play a role in the management of conditions in which oxidative stress and inflammation play roles in pathogenesis (e.g., enteritis).^{3,20} By selectively enhancing beneficial microbiota and directly or indirectly inhibiting pathogenic microbes, prebiotics may improve microbial balance and help mitigate dysbiosis. Through their beneficial impacts on barrier function and intestinal motility, coupled with reductions in putrefactive byproducts, prebiotics may help reduce the risk of

infection.⁴ Certain prebiotic fibers, such as psyllium³⁰ and AXOS⁵⁴ may provide anti-constipation benefits.

Prebiotic functions that may help veterinarians manage gastrointestinal conditions include:

- Antioxidant activity
- Anti-inflammatory properties
- Enhance barrier integrity
- Enhance beneficial bacteria
- Inhibit pathogens
- Reduce putrefactive byproducts
- Improve intestinal motility
- Enhance IgA production
- Immunomodulation

Synbiotic combinations

Synbiotics are combinations of prebiotics and probiotics; the beneficial prebiotic effects may be enhanced if they are used in combination with probiotics, and the presence of prebiotics may enhance the benefits of probiotic strains.^{37,56,70} Complementary synbiotics are composed of prebiotic fiber(s) and probiotic(s) that each have demonstrated health benefits and function independent of each other to provide a host benefit.²⁴ Synergistic synbiotics contain probiotic(s) and accompanying prebiotic(s) that serve as the fermentable substrate for the probiotic to facilitate and enhance its survival and beneficial functions.²⁴ In synergistic synbiotics, the prebiotic and probiotic components may or may not have independent health benefits for the host.²⁴ Synbiotic combinations may have different effects from those of the prebiotic or probiotic administered independently, and may not always be complementary or synergistic;⁷¹ therefore, synbiotics should be evaluated for safety and efficacy in the target species.

Advancing Science for Pet Health

Metabolic support

Numerous published studies have demonstrated potential benefits of prebiotics for weight management for pets. Prebiotic fibers improve satiety and reduce voluntary food intake;^{29,68,72} improve glucose homeostasis^{29,38,68,73} and lipid metabolism;^{29,35,73} and attenuate systemic inflammation⁵⁵ and oxidative stress.³⁴

Prebiotic functions that may help with weight management include:

- Improve satiety
- Reduce voluntary food intake
- Improve glucose homeostasis
- Improve lipid metabolism
- Anti-inflammatory properties
- Attenuate oxidative stress

Immune support

The immunomodulatory actions of prebiotics have, to date, been primarily established as improved immune indices in healthy animals and vary based on the prebiotic evaluated^{35,47,49,51} but may indicate opportunities for nutritional intervention to improve immune health.

Dietary supplementation with scFOS in pregnant dogs after the 35th day of gestation resulted in significantly higher IgM levels in colostrum and milk as well as a trend toward higher concentrations of anti-Bordetella IgM in the puppy's nasal secretions two weeks after vaccination.⁷⁴

Other potential effects

Prebiotics, either through direct effects or SCFA production, may have additional beneficial impact on host health.^{64,75} Potential indications include allergies,⁵³ colorectal neoplasia,⁷⁶ atopic dermatitis and skin health,^{22,24,75} cardiovascular disease,^{20,75} skeletal health,²⁰ and mental health/cognition.^{20,22,75,77} Further research is needed to determine the benefits of prebiotics for these conditions in dogs and cats. Nutritional interventions provide opportunities for manipulating the microbiome to create health benefits for the microbiome and the host. SCFAs play critical roles in gut and host health, and prebiotics are known enhancers of SCFA production. Prebiotics offer numerous benefits through enhancing beneficial bacteria, inhibiting potential pathogens, reducing potentially harmful microbial byproducts, and modulating immunity and inflammation.



Advancing Science for Pet Health

REFERENCES

1. Holscher, H. D. (2017). Dietary fiber and prebiotics and the gastrointestinal microbiota. *Gut Microbes*, *8*(2), 172–184. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2017.1290756

2. Gibson, G. R., & Roberfroid, M. B. (1995). Dietary modulation of the human colonic microbiota: Introducing the concept of prebiotics. *Journal of Nutrition*, *12*5(6), 1401–1412. doi: 10.1093/jn/125.6.1401

3. Suchodolski, J. S. (2021). Analysis of the gut microbiome in dogs and cats. *Veterinary Clinical Pathology*, Epub ahead of print. doi: 10.1111/vcp.13031

4. Roberfroid, M., Gibson, G., Hoyles, L., McCartney, A., Rastall, R., Rowland, I., . . . Meheust, A. (2010). Prebiotic effects: Metabolic and health benefits. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *104*(S2), S1–S63. doi:10.1017/S0007114510003363

5. Louis, P., Solvang, M., Duncan, S. H., Walker, A. W., & Mukhopadhya, I. (2021). Dietary fibre complexity and its influence on function groups of the human gut microbiota. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 80*, 386–397. doi: 10.1017/S0029665121003694

6. Davani-Davari, D., Megahdaripour, M., Karimzadeh, I., Seifan, M., Mohkam, M., Masoumi, S. J., Berenjian, A., & Ghasemi, Y. (2019). Prebiotics: Definition, types, sources, mechanisms, and clinical applications. *Foods*, *8*, 92. doi: 10.3390/foods8030092

7. Sunvold, G. D., Fahey, Jr., G. C., Merchen, N. R., Bourquin, L. D., Titgemeyer, C., Bauer, L. L., & Reinhart, G. A. (1995). Dietary fiber for cats: In vitro fermentation of selected fiber sources by cat fecal inoculum and in vivo utilization of diets containing selected fiber sources and their blends. *Journal of Animal Science*, *73*, 2329–2339.

8. Kaczmarczyk, M. M., Miller, M. J., & Freund, G. G. (2013). The health benefits of dietary fiber: Beyond the usual suspects of type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease and colon cancer. *Metabolism, 61*, 1058–1066. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2012.01.017

9. Rossi, M., Corradini, C., Amaretti, A., Nicolini, M., Pompei, A., Zanoni, S., & Matteuzzi, D. (2005). Fermentation of fructooligosaccharides and inulin by bifidobacteria: a comparative study of pure and fecal cultures. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *71*(10), 6150–6158. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71.10.6150-6158.2005

10. Sparkes, A. H., Papasouliotis, K., Sunvold, G., Werrett, G., Gruffydd-Jones, E. A., Egan, K., T. J. Gruffydd-Jones, T. G., & Reinhart, G. (1998). Effect of dietary supplementation with fructooligosaccharides on fecal flora of healthy cats. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, *59*, 436–440.

11. Bueno, A. R., Cappel, T. G., Sunvold, G. D., Moxley, R. A., Reinhart, G. A., & Clemens, E. T. (2000). Feline colonic microbes and fatty acid transport: Effects of feeding cellulose, beet pulp and pectin/gum arabic fibers. *Nutrition Research*, *20*, 1319–1328.

12. Bueno, A. R., Cappel, T. G., Sunvold, G. D., Reinhart, G. A., & Clemens, E. T. (2000a). Feline colonic morphology and mucosal tissue energetics as influenced via the source of dietary fiber. *Nutrition Research*, *20*, 985–993.

13. Groenveld, E. A., Kappert, H. J., Van der Kuilen, J., & Beynen, A. C. (2001). Consumption of fructooligosaccharides and nitrogen excretion in cats. *International Journal of Vitamin and Nutrition Research*, *71*, 254–256.

14. Hesta, M., Janssens, G. P. J., Debraekeleer, J., & De Wilde, R. (2001). The effect of oligofructose and inulin on faecal characteristics and nutrient digestibility in healthy cats. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition*, *85*, 135–141.

15. Hesta, M., Hoornaert, E., Verlinden, A., & Janssens, G. P. J. (2005). The effect of oligofructose on urea metabolism and faecal odour components in cats. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition*, *89*, 208–214.

16. Barry, K. A., Wojcicki, B. J., Middelbos, I. S., Vester, B. M., Swanson, K. S., & Fahey, Jr., G. C. (2010). Dietary cellulose, fructooligosaccharides, and pectin modify fecal protein catabolites and microbial populations in adult cats. *Journal of Animal Science*, *88*, 2978–2987. doi: 10.2527/jas.2009-2464

17. Kanakupt, K., Vester Boler, B. M., Dunsford, B. R., & Fahey, Jr., G. C. (2011). Effects of short-chain fructooligosaccharides and galactooligosaccharides, individually and in combination, on nutrient digestibility, fecal fermentative metabolite concentrations, and large bowel microbial ecology of healthy adult cats. *Journal of Animal Science*, *89*, 1376–1384. doi: 10.2527/jas.2010-3201

18. Garcia-Mazcorro, J. F., Barcenas-Walls, J. R., Suchodolski, J. S., & Steiner, J. M. (2017). Molecular assessment of the fecal microbiota in healthy cats and dogs before and during supplementation with fructo-oligosaccharides (FOS) and inulin using high-throughput 454-pyrosequencing. *Peer J, 5*, e3184. doi: 10.7717/peerj.3184

19. Lyu, Y., Debevere, S., Bourgeois, H., Ran, M., Broeckx, B. J. G., Vanhaecke, L., Van de Wiele, T., & Hesta, M. (2020). Dose-dependent effects of dietary xyloogligosaccharides supplementation on microbiota, fermentation and metabolism in healthy adult cats. *Molecules*, *25*, 5030. doi: 10.3390/ molecules25215030

20. Guarino, M. P. L., Altomare, A., Emerenziani, S., Di Rosa, C., Ribolsi, M., Balestrieri, P., . . . Cicala, M. (2020). Mechanisms of action of prebiotics and their effects on gastro-intestinal disorders in adults. *Nutrients*, *12*, 1037. doi: 10.3390/nu12041037

21. Hughes, R. L., Alvarado, D. A., Swanson, K. L., & Holscher, H. D. (2021). The prebiotic potential of inulin-type fructans: A systematic review. *Advances in Nutrition*, nmab119. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmab119

22. Gibson, G. R., Hutkins, R., Sanders, M. E., Prescott, S. L., Reimer, R. A., Salminen, S. J., . . . Reid, G. (2017). The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP) consensus statement on the definition and scope of prebiotics. *Gastroenterology and Hepatology, 14,* 491–502. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2017.75

23. Brosseau, C., Selle, A., Palmer, D. J., Prescott, S. L., Barbarot, S., & Bodinier, M. (2019). Prebiotics: Mechanisms and preventive effects in allergy. *Nutrients*, *11*, 1841. doi: 10.3390/nu11081841

24. Cunningham, M., Azcarate-Peril, M. A., Barnard, A., Benoit, V., Grimaldi, R., Guyonnet, D., . . . Gibson, G. R. (2021). Shaping the future of probiotics and prebiotics. *Trends in Microbiology*, *29*(8), 667–685. doi: 10.1016/j. tim.2021.01.003

25. Vijay, A., Astbury, S., Le Roy, C., Spector, T. D., & Valdes, A. M. (2021). The prebiotic effects of omega-3 fatty acid supplementation: A sixweek randomized intervention trial. *Gut Microbes*, *13*(1), 1863133. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2020.1863133

26. Barry, K. A., Hernot, D. C., Middelbos, I. S., Francis, C., Dunsford, B., Swanson, K. S., & Fahey, Jr., G. C. (2009). Low-level fructan supplementation of dogs enhances nutrient digestion and modifies stool metabolite concentrations, but does not alter fecal microbiota concentrations. *Journal of Animal Science*, *87*, 3244–3252. doi: 10.2527/jas.2008-1659

27. Czarnecki-Maulden, G., & Russell, T. J. (2000). Effect of chicory on fecal microflora in dogs fed soy-containing or soy-free diets. *FASEB Journal*, *14*(4), A488.

28. Grieshop, C., Flickinger, E., Bruce, K., Patil, A. R., Czarnecki-Maulden, G. L., & Fahey, Jr., G. C. (2004). Gastrointestinal and immunological responses of senior dogs to chicory and mannan-oligosaccharides. *Archives of Animal Nutrition*, *58*(6), 483–494. doi: 10.1080/00039420400019977

29. Ferreira, C. S., Vendramini, T. H. A., Amaral, A. R., Rentas, M. F., Ernandes, M. S., da Silva, F., Oba, P. M., . . . Brunetto, M. A. (2022). Metabolic variables of obese dogs with insulin resistance supplemented with yeast beta-glucan. *BMC Veterinary Research*, *18*, 14. doi: 10.1186/s12917-021-03106-2

30. Jalanka, J., Major, G., Murray, K., Singh, G., Nowak, A., Kurtz, C., . . . Spiller, R. (2019). The effect of psyllium husk on intestinal microbiota in constipated patients and healthy controls. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *20*, 433. doi: 10.3390/ijms20020433

31. de Escalada Pla, M. F., Ponce, N. M., Stortz, C. A., Gerschenson, L. N., & Rojas, A. M. (2007). Composition and functional properties of enriched fiber products obtained from pumpkin (*Cucurbita moschata* Duchesne ex Poiret). *LWT – Food Science and Technology*, 40(7), 1176–1185. doi: 10.1016/j. lwt.2006.08.006

32. Fissore, E. N., Ponce, N. M., Stortz, C. A., Rojas, A. M., & Gerschenson, L. N. (2007). Characterisation of fiber obtained from pumpkin (*Cucumis moschata* duch.) mesocarp through enzymatic treatment. *Food Science and Technology International*, *12*(2), 141–151. doi: 10.1177/1082013207077914

33. Brouns, F., Hemery, Y., Price, R., & Anson, N. M. (2012). Wheat aleurone: separation, composition, health aspects, and potential food use. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, *52*(6), *553*–568. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2011.589540

34. Costabile, G., Vitale, M., Della Pepa, G., Cipriano, P., Vetrani, C., Testa, R., . . . Giacco, R. (2021). A wheat aleurone-rich diet improves oxidative stress but does not influence glucose metabolism in overweight/obese individuals: Results from a randomized controlled trial. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, *32*(3), 715–726. doi: 10.1016/j. numecd.2021.12.016

35. Pawar, M. M., Pattanaik, A. K., Sinha, D. K., Goswami, T. K., & Sharma, K. (2017). Effect of dietary mannanoligosaccharide supplementation on nutrient digestibility, hindgut fermentation, immune response and antioxidant indices in dogs. *Journal of Animal Science and Technology*, *59*, 11. doi: 10.1186/s40781-017-0136-6

36. Flickinger, E. A., Schreijen, E. M. W. C., Patil, A. R., Hussein, H. S., Grieshop, C. M., Merchen, N. R., & Fahey, Jr., G. C. (2003). Nutrient digestibilities, microbial populations, and protein catabolites as affected by fructan supplementation of dog diets. *Journal of Animal Science*, *81*, 2008-2018.

37. Pinna, C., & Biagi, G. (2014). The utilisation of prebiotics and synbiotics in dogs. *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, *13*(1), 3107. doi: 10.4081/ ijas.2014.3107

38. Apper, E., Privet, L., Taminiau, B., Le Bourgot, C., Svilar, L., Martin, J.-C., & Diez, M. (2020). Relationship between gut microbiota, metabolome, body weight, and glucose homeostasis of obese dogs fed with diets differing in prebiotic and protein content. *Microorganisms*, *8*, 513. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms8040513

39. Segarra, S., Ghyselinck, J., Van den Abbeele, P., & Marzorati, M. (2020). Enhanced gut microbial fermentation and metabolism by different starchrich products in a canine gastrointestinal model. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, *34*(6), 2904. doi: 10.1111/jvim.15904

40. Schmitz, S., & Suchodolski, J. (2016). Understanding the canine intestinal microbiota and its modification by pro-, pre- and synbiotics – what is the evidence? *Veterinary Medicine and Science*, *2*, 71–94. doi: 10.1002/vms.3.17

41. Beloshapka, A. N., Dowd, S. E., Suchodolski, J. S., Steiner, J. M., Duclos, L., & Swanson, K. S. (2013). Fecal microbial communities of healthy adult dogs fed raw meat-based diets with or without inulin or yeast cell wall extracts as assessed by 454 pyrosequencing. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, *84*, 532–541. doi: 10.1111/1574-6941.12081

42. Diez, M., Hornick, J. L., Baldwin, P., & Istasse, L. (1997). Influence of a blend of fructo-oligosaccharides and sugar beet fiber on nutrient digestibility and plasma metabolite concentrations in healthy beagles. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, *58*(11), 1238–1242.

43. Propst, E. L., Flickinger, E. A., Bauer, L. L., Merchen, N. R., & Fahey, Jr., G. C. (2003). A dose-response experiment evaluating the effects of oligofructose and inulin on nutrient digestibility, stool quality, and fecal protein catabolites in healthy adult dogs. *Journal of Animal Science*, *81*, 3057–3066.

44. Panasevich, M. R., Kerr, K. R., Dilger, R. N., Fahey, Jr., G. C., Guerin-Dermaux, L., Lynch, G. L., . . . Swanson, K. S. (2015). Modulation of the faecal microbiome of healthy adult dogs by inclusion of potato fibre in the diet. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *113*, 125–133. doi: 10.1017/S000711454003274

45. Jewell, D., Jackson, M., Hall, J., & Badri, D. (2020). Feeding microbiometargeting ingredients increases fecal butyrate, plant-origin antioxidants, and anti-inflammatory compounds in dogs. *Current Developments in Nutrition*, 689.

46. Perini, M. P., Rentas, M. F., Pedreira, R., Amaral, A. R., Zafalon, R. V. A., Rodrigues, R. B. A., . . . Brunetto, M. A. (2020). Duration of prebiotic intake is a key factor for diet-induced modulation of immunity and fecal fermentation products in dogs. *Microorganisms*, *8*, 1916. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms8121916

47. Rentas, M. F., Pedreira, R. S., Perini, M. P., Risolia, L. W., Zafalon, R. V. A., Alvarenga, I. C., . . . Brunetto, M. A. (2020). Galactoligosaccharide and a prebiotic blend improve colonic health and immunity of adult dogs. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(8), e0238006. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0238006

48. Czarnecki-Maulden, G. L., & Patil, A. R. The effect of trial length on canine fecal microflora response to chicory ingestion. Presented at Joint Nutrition Symposium, Antwerp, Belgium, August 21 – 26, 2002.

49. Swanson, K., Grieshop, C., Flickinger, E., Bauer, L., Healy, H., Dawson, K., Merchen, N., & Fahey, Jr., G. (2002a). Supplemental fructooligosaccharides and mannanoligosaccharides influence immune function, ileal and tract nutrient digestibilities, microbial populations and concentrations of protein catabolites in the large bowel of dogs. *Journal of Nutrition*, *1*32, 980S–989S.

50. Pilla, R., & Suchodolski, J. S. (2021). The gut microbiome of dogs and cats, and the influence of diet. *Veterinary Clinics of North America Small Animal Practice*, *51*, 605–621. doi: 10.1016/j.cvsm.2021.01.002

51. Swanson, K. S., Grieshop, C. M., Flickinger, E. A., Healy, H. P., Dawson, K. A., Merchen, N. R., & Fahey Jr., G. C. (2002b). Effects of supplemental fructooligosaccharides plus mannanoligosaccharides on immune function and ileal and fecal microbial populations in adult dogs. *Archives of Animal Nutrition*, *56*(4), 309–318. doi: 10.1080/00039420214344

52. Chen, O., Sudakaran, S., Blonquist, T., Mah, E., Durkee, S., & Bellamine, A. (2021). Effect of arabinogalactan on the gut microbiome: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover trial in healthy adults. *Nutrition*, *90*, 111273. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2021.111273

53. Blanco-Pérez, F., Steigerwald, H., Schülke, S., Vieths, S., Toda, M., & Sheurer, S. (2021). The dietary fiber pectin: Health benefits and potential for the treatment of allergies by modulation of gut microbiota. *Current Allergy and Asthma Reports*, *21*, 43. doi: 10.1007/S11882-021-01020-Z

Advancing Science for Pet Health

54. Broekaert, W. F., Courtin, C. M., Verbeke, K., Van de Wiele, T., Verstraete, W., & Delcour, J. A. (2011). Prebiotic and other health-related effects of cereal-derived arabinoxylans, arabinoxylan-oligosaccharides, and xylooligosaccharides. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, *51*(2), 178–194. doi: 10.1080/10408390903044768

55. Boscaini, S., Leigh, S.-J., Lavelle, A., Garcia-Cabrerizo, R., Lipuma, T., Clarke, G., Schellekens, H., & Cryan, J. F. (2021). Microbiota and body weight control: Weight watchers within? *Molecular Metabolism*, Epub ahead of print. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2021.101427

56. Preidis, G. A., & Versalovic, J. (2009). Targeting the human microbiome with antibiotics, probiotics, and prebiotics: Gastroenterology enters the metagenomics era. *Gastroenterology*, *136*(6), 2015–2031.

57. Terada, A., Hara, H., Oishi,T., Matsui, S., Mitsuoka, T., Nakajyo, S., Fujimori, I., & Hara, K. (1992). Effect of dietary lactosucrose on faecal flora and faecal metabolites of dogs. *Microbial Ecology in Health and Disease*, *5*(2) 87–92. doi: 10.3109/08910609209141294

58. Terada, A., Hara, H., Kato, S., Kimura, T., Fujimori, I., Hara, K., Maruyama, T., & Mitsuoka, T. (1993). Effect of lactosucrose (4G-β-Dgalactosylsucrose) on fecal flora and fecal putrefactive products of cats. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, *55*(2), 291–295. doi: 10.1292/jvms.55.291

59. Shoaf, K., Mulvey, G. L., Armstrong, G. D., & Hutkins, R. W. (2006). Prebiotic galactooligosaccharides reduce adherence of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* to tissue culture cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 74(12), 6920–6928. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01030-06

60. Monteagudo-Mera, A., Rastall, R. A., Gibson, G. R., Charalampopoulos, D., & Chatzifragkou, A. (2019). Adhesion mechanisms mediated by probiotics and prebiotics and their potential impact on human health. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 103,* 6463–6472. doi: 10.1007/s00253-019-09978-7

61. Rhodes, J. M. (2021). Nutrition and gut health: The impact of specific dietary components – it's not just five-a-day. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 90, 9–18. doi: 10.1017/S0029665120000026

62. Field, C. J., McBurney, M. I., Massimino, S., Hayek, M. G., & Sunvold, G. D. (1999). The fermentable fiber content of the diet alters the function and composition of canine gut associated lymphoid tissue. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, *72*, 325–341.

63. Tang, M. L. K. (2009). Probiotics and prebiotics: Immunological and clinical effects in allergic disease. In Brandtzaeg, P., Isolauri, E., & Prescott, S. L. (Eds.) *Microbial-Host Interactions: Tolerance versus Allergy*. Nestlé Nutrition Institute Workshop Series Pediatric Program (pp. 219–238). Karger AG.

64. Kim, C. H. (2021). Control of lymphocyte functions by gut microbiotaderived short-chain fatty acids. *Cellular & Molecular Immunology, 18*, 1161–1171. doi: 10.1038/s41423-020-00625-0

65. Howard, M. D., Kerley, M. S., Sunvold, G. D., & Reinhart, G. A. (2000). Source of dietary fiber fed to dogs affects nitrogen and energy metabolism and intestinal microflora populations. *Nutrition Research*, *20*, 1473–1484.

66. Luo, Y., Liu, L., Chen, D., Yu, B., Zheng, P., Mao, X., . . . He, J. (2021). Dietary supplementation of fructooligosaccharides alleviates enterotoxigenic *E. coli*-induced disruption of intestinal epithelium in a weaned piglet model. *British Journal of Nutrition*, EPub ahead of print. doi: 10.1017/S0007114521004451 67. Czarnecki-Maulden, G. L., Binder, S. F., & Saylock, M. J. (2002). Chicory root, a source of soluble fiber, increases apparent calcium digestibility in dogs. *FASEB Journal*, *16*(4), A654.

68. Massimino, S. P., McBurney, M. L., Field, C. J., Thomson, A. B. R., Keelan, M., Hayek, M. G., & Sunvold, G. D. (1998). Fermentable dietary fiber increases GLP-1 secretion and improves glucose homeostasis despite increased intestinal glucose transport capacity in healthy dogs. *Journal of Nutrition*, 128, 1786–1793. doi: 10.1093/jn/128.10.1786

69. Swanson, K., Grieshop, C., Flickinger, E., Bauer, L., Chow, J., Wolf, B., Garleb, K., & Fahey, Jr., G. (2002). Fructooligosaccharides and *Lactobacillus acidophilus* modify gut microbial populations, total tract digestibilities and fecal protein catabolite in healthy adult dogs. *Journal of Nutrition*, *132*, 3721S–3731S.

70. Alonge, S., Aiudi, G. G., Lacalandra, G. M., Leoci, R., & Melandri, M. (2020). Pre- and probiotics to increase the immune power of colostrum in dogs. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, *7*, 570414. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.570414

71. Roller, M., Rechkemmer, G., & Watzi, B. (2003). Prebiotic inulin enriched with oligofructose in combination with the probiotics *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* and *Bifidobacterium lactis* modulates intestinal immune functions in rats. *Journal of Nutrition*, *134*, 153–156.

72. Bosch, G., Verbrugghe, A., Hesta, M., Holst, J. J., van der Poel, A. F. B., Janssens, G. P. J., & Hendriks, W. H. (2009). The effects of dietary fiber type on satiety-related hormones and voluntary food intake in dogs. *British Journal of Nutrition*, *102*, 318–325.

73. Respondek, F., Swanson, K. S., Belsito, K. R., Vester, B. M., Wagner, A., Istasse, L., & Diez, M. (2008). Short-chain fructo-oligosaccharides influence insulin sensitivity and gene expression of fat tissue in obese dogs. *Journal of Nutrition*, *138*, 1712–1718.

74. Adogony, V., Respondek, F., Biourge, V., Rudeaux, F., Delaval, J., Bind, J.-L., & Salmon, H. (2007). Effects of dietary scFOS on immunoglobulins in colostrums and milk of bitches. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition*, *91*, 169–174.

75. Gowrishkankar, S., Kamaledevi, A., & Pandian, S. K. (2021). Prebiotics mechanism of action: An over view. In Dhanasekaran D., & Sankaranarayanan, A. (Eds.) *Advances in Probiotics* (pp 137–148). Academic Press. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-822909-5.00009-5

76. Fong, W., Li, Q., & Yu, J. (2020). Gut microbiota modulation: A novel strategy for prevention and treatment of colorectal cancer. *Oncogene, 39*, 4925–4943. Doi: 10.1038/s41388-020-1341-1

77. Noonan, S., Zaveri, M., Macaninch, E., & Martyn, K. (2020). Food & mood: A review of supplementary prebiotic and probiotic interventions in the treatment of anxiety and depression in adults. *BMJ Nutrition, Prevention & Health.* doi: 10.1136/bmjnph-2019-000053

What is the Purina Institute?

Advancing Science for Pet Health.

At the Purina Institute, we believe science is more powerful when it's shared. That's why we're on a mission to unlock the power of nutrition to help pets live better, longer lives. A global professional organization, the Purina Institute shares Purina's leading-edge research, as well as evidence-based information from the wider scientific community, in an accessible, actionable way so veterinary professionals are empowered to put nutrition at the forefront of pet health discussions to further improve and extend the healthy lives of pets through nutrition.



Advancing Science for Pet Health

Learn more at **Purinalnstitute.com**

PURINA TRADEMARKS ARE OWNED BY SOCIÉTÉ DES PRODUITS NESTLÉ S.A. RT/CRCC